THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 01 2025

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY

SC Court of Appeals

Court of Common Pleas

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2020-CP-42-00055

Appellate Case No. 2024-001239

Dr. Lad Santiago,

Appellant.

v.

Stephen N. Garcia, as Attorney for

Oscar Avila Hernandez, et.al.,

Respondents.

FINAL INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Dr. Lad Santiago
5041 N. Blackstock Rd.
Spartanburg, SC 29303
Telephone: (864)576-2983
drladsantiago@gmail.com

Stephen N. Garcia, Esquire
604 Pettigru Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
Telephone: (864)271-7335
stephen@scgarcialaw.com

Pro Se for Appellant

Attorney for Respondents

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Case Law

South Carolina

Barnes v. Johnson, 402 S.C. 458, 742 S.E.2d 6 (Ct. App. 2013).

Beverly v. Grand Strand Reg'l Med. Ctr., LLC, 429 S.C. 502, 839 S.E.2d 468 (Ct. App. 2020), *aff'd*, 435 S.C. 594, 869 S.E.2d 812 (2022)

Bob Hammond Constr. Co. v. Banks Constr. Co., 312 S.C. 422, 440 S.E.2d 890 (Ct.App. 1994).

Brown v. Leverette, 291 S.C. 364, 353 S.E.2d 697 (1987)

Clyde v. Johnson, 402 S.C. 458, 466, 742 S.E.2d 6, 10 (Ct. App. 2013)

Coastalstates Bank v. Hanover Homes of S.C., LLC, 759 S.E.2d 152, 156 (S.C. Ct. App. 2014)

Columbia Wholesale Co. v. Scudder May N.V., 312 S.C. 259, 261, 440 S.E.2d 129, 130 (1994).

Dawkins v. Union Hosp. Dist., 408 S.C. 171, 758 S.E.2d 501 (2014)

Dean v. Ruscon Corp., 321 S.C. 360, 363, 468 S.E.2d 645, 647 (1996).

Donahue v. Multimedia, Inc., 362 S.C. 331, 338, 608 S.E.2d 162, 165 (Ct.App.2005)

Dr. Lad Santiago's Affidavit, Dr. Lad Santiago vs. Oscar Avila Hernandez, defendant, et al, case #2020CP4200055, (Court of Common Pleas, Spartanburg County, filed May 29, 2020)

Dr. Lad Santiago's Affidavit, Dr. Lad Santiago vs. Oscar Avila Hernandez, defendant, et al, case #2020CP4200055, (Court of Common Pleas, Spartanburg County, filed May 23, 2023)

Dr. Elizabeth Hughston Santiago's Affidavit, Dr. Lad Santiago vs. Oscar Avila Hernandez, defendant, et al, case #2020CP4200055, (Court of Common Pleas, Spartanburg County, filed May 29, 2020)

Dr. Elizabeth Hughston Santiago's Affidavit, Dr. Lad Santiago vs. Oscar Avila Hernandez, defendant, et al, case #2020CP4200055, (Court of Common Pleas, Spartanburg County, filed May 23, 2023)

Dr. Lad Santiago vs. Oscar Avila Hernandez, defendant, et al, case #2020CP4200055, (Court of Common Pleas, Spartanburg County)

Ellis v. Davidson, 358 S.C. 509, 519, 595 S.E.2d 817, 822 (Ct.App. 2004)

Ellis, 358 S.C. at 519, 595 S.E.2d at 822

Fabian v. Lindsay, Appellate No. 2012-213726, at *5 (S.C. Oct. 29, 2014) (“Black's Law Dictionary 1394 (10th ed. 2014)”)

Forrest v. Warrington, 2 S.C.Eq. (2 Des.) 254 (1804)

Gignilliat v. Gignilliat, Savitz & Bettis, 385 S.C. 452, 684 S.E.2d 756 (2009)

Goode v. St. Stephens United Methodist Church, 329 S.C. 433, 445 (S.C. Ct. App. 1997)

Hendrix v. Eastern Distribution, Inc., 316 S.C. 34, 38 (S.C. Ct. App. 1994)

Hendricks v. Clemson Univ., 353 S.C. 449, 458, 578 S.E.2d 711, 715 (2003)

Jennings v. First of Ga. Underwriters Co., 283 S.C. 455, 457, 322 S.E.2d 694, 695 (Ct. App. 1984)

Kingman v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 243 S.C. 405, 134 S.E.2d 217 (1964)

Kingman v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co., 243 S.C. 405, 412, 134 S.E.2d 217, 221 (1964)

Leon v. Martinez, 84 N.Y.2d 83, 614 N.Y.S.2d 972, 638 N.E.2d 511 (1994))

McWhirter v. Otis Elevator Co., 40 F. Supp. 11 (W.D.S.C. 1941)

Moore v. Moore, 360 S.C. 241, 250-51 (S.C. Ct. App. 2004)

Moore v. Weinberg, 373 S.C. 209, 644 S.E.2d 740 (Ct. App. 2007), aff'd, 383 S.C. 583, 681 S.E.2d 875 (2009)

Moore v. Weinberg, 373 S.C. 209, 644 S.E.2d 740 (Ct. App. 2007), aff'd, 383 S.C. 583, 681 S.E.2d 875 (2009), at II Assignment.

O'Shea v. Lesser, 308 S.C. 10, 15, 416 S.E.2d 629, 631 (1992)

Pharr v. Canal Ins. Co., 233 S.C. 266, 104 S.E.2d 394

Plyler v. Burns, 373 S.C. 637, 647 S.E.2d 188 (2007)

Prince v. Liberty Life Ins. Co., 390 S.C. 166, 169, 700 S.E.2d 280, 282 (Ct.App.2010)

Redwend Ltd. P'ship v. Edwards, 354 S.C. 459, 476, 581 S.E.2d 496, 505 (Ct.App. 2003)

Regions Bank v. Schmauch, 354 S.C. 648, 670, 582 S.E.2d 432, 444 (Ct.App. 2003)

Regions Bank, 354 S.C. at 670, 582 S.E.2d at 444

Restatement (Second) of Contracts § 317(1) (1981)

Singletary v. Aetna Cas. Sur. Co., 316 S.C. 199, 201, 447 S.E.2d 869, 870 (Ct.App. 1994)

Slater Corp. v. S.C. Tax Comm'n, 280 S.C. 584, 587, 314 S.E.2d 31, 33 (Ct.App.1984)

Sloan Const. Co. v. Southco Grassing, Inc., 377 S.C. 108, 659 S.E.2d 158 (2008), holding modified by Shirley's Iron Works, Inc. v. City of Union, 403 S.C. 560, 743 S.E.2d 778 (2013)

SSI Med. Servs., Inc. v. Cox, 301 S.C. 493, 500, 392 S.E.2d 789, 794 (1990)

Standard Oil Co. of New Jersey v. Powell Paving & Contracting Co., 139 S.C. 411, 138 S.E. 184 (1927)

Steele v. Victory Sav. Bank, 295 S.C. 290, 293, 368 S.E.2d 91, 93 (Ct.App. 1988)

Steele, 295 S.C. at 293, 368 S.E.2d at 93

Touchberry v. City of Florence, 295 S.C. 47, 367 S.E.2d 149 (1988)

Toussaint v. Ham, 292 S.C. 415, 357 S.E.2d 8 (1987)

Twelfth RMA Partners, L.P. v. National Safe Corp., 335 S.C. 635, 639-40 (S.C. Ct. App. 1999)

Williams Carpet Contractors, Inc. v. Skelly, 400 S.C. 320, 734 S.E.2d 177, 181(Ct. App. 2012).

Windsor Green Owners Ass'n v. Allied Signal, Inc., 362 S.C. 12, 17, 605 S.E.2d 750, 752 (Ct.App.2004)

Wogan v. Kunze, 366 S.C. 583, 604 (S.C. Ct. App. 2005)

5 C. Wright & A. Miller, Federal Practice and Procedure § 1357 (1969)

Other Jurisdictions

Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 129 S. Ct. 1937, 173 L. Ed. 2d 868 (2009)

Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 127 S. Ct. 1955, 167 L. Ed. 2d 929 (2007)

Bensch v. Metropolitan Dade County, 855 F. Supp. 351 (S.D. Fla. 1994).

Berkowitz v. Haigood, 256 N.J. Super. 342, 606 A.2d 1157 (Law. Div. 1992)

Bharucha v. Reuters Holdings PLC, 810 F. Supp. 37 (E.D.N.Y. 1993).

Boro Hall Corp. v. General Motors Corp., 124 F.2d 822 (2nd Cir.1942), *cert. denied*, 317 U.S. 695, 63 S.Ct. 436, 87 L.Ed. 556 (1943)

Carlson v. U.S. ex rel U.S. Postal Service, 248 F. Supp. 2d 1040 (N.D. Okla. 2003)

Gallup v. Caldwell, 120 F.2d 90 (3rd Cir.1941).

Harvey M. Jasper Retirement Trust v. Ivax Corp., 920 F. Supp. 1260 (S.D. Fla. 1995)

In re Jet 1 Center, Inc., 319 B.R. 11, 14-15 (Bankr. M.D. Fla. 2004)

Opinion of the Court, Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662 (2009), Supreme Court of the United States, No. 07-1015, at IV A

[https://supreme.justia.com/cases/federal/us/556/662/#:~:text=to%20respondent's%20complaint.-,Under%20Federal%20Rule%20of%20Civil%20Procedure%208\(a\)\(2,but%20it%20demands%20more%20than](https://supreme.justia.com/cases/federal/us/556/662/#:~:text=to%20respondent's%20complaint.-,Under%20Federal%20Rule%20of%20Civil%20Procedure%208(a)(2,but%20it%20demands%20more%20than)

Parker v. Wakelin, 882 F. Supp. 1131 (D. Me. 1995)

Speaker v. U.S. D. H. S., 623 F.3d 1371, 1380 (11th Cir. 2010)

Straka v. Francis, 867 F. Supp. 767 (N.D. Ill. 1994)

Trinsey v. Pagliaro, 229 F. Supp. 647, 649 E.D. Pa. 1964).

Yeitrakis v. Schering-Plough Corp., 804 F. Supp. 238 (D.N.M. 1992)

Statutes and Court Rules

Professions and Occupations, Title 40 - Professions and Occupations, Chapter 1.

<https://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t40c001.php>

RULE 17(a) PARTIES PLAINTIFF AND DEFENDANT: CAPACITY South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (SCRCP), <https://www.sccourts.org/resources/judicial-community/court-rules/civil/rule-17/>

Rule 1.15 - South Carolina Court Rules: <https://www.sccourts.org/resources/judicial-community/court-rules/appellate/rule-407/rule-115/>

Rule 8.4: Misconduct. South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure (SCRCP)

<https://www.sccourts.org/resources/judicial-community/court-rules/appellate/rule-407/rule-84/>

S.C. Code § 15-3-530, <https://www.scstatehouse.gov/code/t15c003.php>

5 S.C. Jur. Assignments § 2 (2006).

S.C. Jur. Assignments § 19 (2006)

S.C. Code Ann. § 36-3-201 (1976)

S.C. Code Ann. § 15-3-530(1) (2005).

Secondary Sources

Barron's Law Dictionary, Steven H. Gifis, 1984 ed., pgs. 499-500.

Carlier, Mathilde. *U.S. motor vehicle registrations 1990-2022*. Feb 28, 2024.

<https://www.statista.com/statistics/183505/number-of-vehicles-in-the-united-states-since-1990/>

Edwards, Sarah, Contributor. Adam Ramirez, JD, Reviewer. *How Many Car Accidents Per Year In U.S. Chart (2025)*.

<https://www.consumershield.com/articles/car-accidents-per-year#understanding-the-number-of-car>

Keisler-Starkey, Katherine and Lisa N. Bunch. *Health Insurance Coverage in the United States: 2023*. September 10, 2024. Report Number: P60-284.

[https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2024/demo/p60-](https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2024/demo/p60-284.html#:~:text=In%202023%2C%20most%20people%2C%2092.0,percent%20and%2036.3%20percent%2C%20respectively.)

[284.html#:~:text=In%202023%2C%20most%20people%2C%2092.0,percent%20and%2036.3%20percent%2C%20respectively.](https://www.census.gov/library/publications/2024/demo/p60-284.html#:~:text=In%202023%2C%20most%20people%2C%2092.0,percent%20and%2036.3%20percent%2C%20respectively.)

Legal Ethics Opinion 1865, Obligations of a Lawyer in Handling Settlement Funds When a Third-Party Lien or Claim is Asserted <https://www.vacle.org/opinions/1865.htm>

Scott Moïse, *The Scrivener Get Out of My Life! Part Two Rule 12(b)(4)-(8) motions and motions for judgment on the pleadings, for a more definite statement, and to strike*, (July 2016) at 51

<https://www.nelsonmullins.com/storage/fc4ffdc0821e67cbb3027b748f3db189.pdf>

Vested right. Merriam-Webster.com Legal Dictionary, Merriam-Webster, <https://www.merriam-webster.com/legal/vested%20right>. Accessed 31 Dec. 2024.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Whether the circuit court erred in finding that the Appellant's First Amended Verified Complaint was not entitled to Relief on any Theory.
2. Whether the circuit court erred in finding that the Appellant's First Amended Verified Complaint did not meet the "plausibility standard."
3. Whether the circuit court erred in not accepting that the Appellant, Dr. Lad Santiago is the assignee with privity of the Assignment of Benefits Contracts; conveyed to him by the assignor, his wife, the single and only member of the LLC, Upstate Clinical Associates, and is thus the real party in interest.
4. Whether the circuit court erred in finding that the Appellant, Dr. Lad Santiago, was not an intended 3rd party beneficiary with privity, and was not the real party in interest, in both the written and oral agreements (contracts), consummated between Upstate Clinical Associates, LLC, and through his verbal agreement with the Respondents, Oscar Avila Hernandez, et.al., and was not empowered to enforce the collection of benefits owed by the Respondents and their attorney.
5. Whether the circuit court erred in finding that a majority, if not all of Appellant's claims were outside the Statute of Limitations. This decision was based on a false and erroneous schema of the Statute of Limitations fabricated by the Respondents' attorney for the purpose of misrepresenting the facts regarding the Statute of Limitations so that it would appear that the Statute of Limitations had run.
6. Whether the Circuit court erred in finding that there was no failure of fiduciary performance and duty on the part of the Respondents and the Respondents' attorney; and whether the Circuit court erred in finding that it was equitable that Dr. Lad Santiago's claim for unjust enrichment was not applicable.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, Dr. Lad Santiago, filed and served a *Pro Se* Summons and Verified Complaint in the Court of Common Pleas of Spartanburg County for the Seventh Judicial Circuit on January 8, 2020. A First Amended Verified Complaint followed on March 9, 2020, asserting claims for (1) breach of contract, (2) bad faith, (3) unjust enrichment. (R Vol. I, pgs. 78-81).

All of Dr. Lad Santiago's claims arose from the Respondents seeking healthcare services from him for injuries sustained by the Respondents, **Oscar Avila Hernandez, and Angelica Calderilla (Corona) Hernandez, and ALA (Minor Child), and JA (Minor Child)**, as the result of an automobile accident. The complaints were filed by and on behalf of Dr. Lad Santiago. (R Vol. I, pg. 78).

Pursuant to Rule 12(b)(6), SCRCPP, **Oscar Avila Hernandez, and Angelica Calderilla (Corona) Hernandez, and ALA (Minor Child), and JA (Minor Child)**, filed a motion to dismiss on February 26, 2020, requesting that the Court of Common Pleas dismiss the aforementioned claims of the Appellant, Dr. Lad Santiago. (R Vol. I, pgs. 69-75). Appellant also filed a motion on March 9, 2020, to disqualify opposing counsel, because opposing counsel was the attorney for the Respondents in a personal injury case which produced a settlement that provided direct compensation from the opposing insurance company for injuries sustained by the Respondents (R Vol. I, pgs. 92-99). Their attorney, Stephen N. Garcia was to segregate and maintain a portion of the funds in trust as payment to the Appellant through Upstate Clinical Associates, LLC for the healthcare services rendered to the Respondents, which he willfully and purposefully failed to do (R. Vol. I, 102-109). Further, he stated that he would surrender said funds directly to the court, which he did not do (R. Vol. I, pg. 315). There was a definite conflict of interest regarding his role as their personal injury attorney, having gained the monetary proceeds from the settlement of the case, and his role as

the custodian of those funds upon a breach of the contracts, and his failure of fiduciary responsibility to maintain those funds in trust and to properly disperse them. However, it became evident that he assumed the role to represent the Respondents in their breaches of contracts, while being the custodian of the funds (R. Vol. I, pgs. 95-98; R. Vol. I, pgs. 155-166). He circumvented his fiduciary duties and acted to defend the Respondents, thus creating a conflict in his dual roles, which ultimately manifested in his and in his clients' gain of unjust enrichment from these unethical actions and roles of representation (R. Vol. I, 95-98; R. Vol. I, pgs. 155-166). This is in violation of Rule 1.15(b) as cited herein: "Rule 1.15 (b) requires that a third party be "entitled" to funds in the lawyer's possession. Although Rule 1.15 (b) does not make the third party a "client" of the lawyer, the lawyer's duty with respect to funds to which the third party is entitled is the same as if the person were a client."¹ See Legal Ethics Opinion 1865. It appears that the Respondents' Counsel used his position to defend the Respondents in order to conceal his intent for unjust enrichment. (R. Vol. I, 95-98; R. Vol. I, pgs. 155-166; *ibid* Rule 1.15). Despite Appellant's pleadings to address and correct this conflict, the Court erred by failing to grant the Appellant's Motion for Disqualification of Respondents' Counsel. The Court's position on this matter only became manifest upon the final ruling issued on November 20, 2023 (R. Vol. I, pgs. 18-22).

In May of 2020, the Honorable Judge J. Derham Cole requested through his law clerk via email, that the parties agree to the Honorable Judge J. Derham Cole hearing the two motions in chambers without the parties being present, because of the prevailing public health contagion, COVID, which was present during this period of time in 2020 (R. Vol. I, pgs. 401-402). However, it took more than three and one-half (3.5) years for the Honorable Judge J.

Derham Cole to render an order, which was entered into the court record on November 20, 2023 (R. Vol. I, pgs. 18-22).

Meanwhile, from May of 2020 until the rendering of that order, case filings, court actions, and hearings continued, but it appears that they were not given their due consideration for a just and fair resolution of this case.

All of the Court Transcripts and their respective judges' rulings have been submitted to the Appellate Court for their record and review. (R. Vol. I, pgs. 1-27; Vol. II, pgs. 49-68; 70-102; 105-132). The Court of Common Pleas entered an order granting the 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss with Prejudice on November 20, 2023, which also included a denial of Appellant's Motion to Disqualify Counsel (R. Vol. I, pgs. 18-22). Appellant, Dr. Lad Santiago, filed under Rule 59, SCRCPC, a Motion for a New Trial/Hearing on November 30, 2023 (R. Vol. I, pgs. 403-475). The circuit court denied this motion on July 3, 2024, but Appellant did not receive written notice of this order until July 9, 2024 (R. Vol. I, pgs. 24-27). Dr. Lad Santiago filed and served a timely notice of appeal on July 29, 2024 (R. Vol. II, pg. 32).

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The Appellant, Dr. Lad Santiago, delivered healthcare services to the Respondents because of bodily injuries sustained by them due to an automobile accident caused by another driver that occurred on May 20, 2016. Respondents sought healthcare services directly from Appellant and entered into both written and verbal agreements/contracts on June 2, 2016 and June 16, 2016 (R. Vol. I, pgs. 78-79, ¶ 6, 7; R. Vol. I, pgs. 40-47; R. Vol. II, pgs. 33-48).

The Respondent, Oscar Avila Hernandez, called the Appellant, Dr. Lad Santiago, in the latter half of May, 2016. He informed him that he and his family had been involved in an automobile accident on May 20, 2016 and that they were injured and suffering with pain. Mr.

Avila and his family desired to be examined for these injuries caused by the accident. The Respondents made an initial appointment directly with Dr. Lad Santiago for June 2, 2016, and on June 16, 2016 (R. Vol. 1, pgs. 78-79, ¶ 6, 7). At these visits, the Respondents consulted with Dr. Lad Santiago about their accident and injuries. During these same visits, Dr. Lad Santiago translated the Informed Consent, signing his portion and obtaining their signatures also (R. Vol. 1, pgs. 40-43). Because of the Respondents concerns regarding how they would make payment, he also presented and translated the Irrevocable Assignment, Lien and Authorization Insurance Benefits and Attorney Contracts (hereinafter referred to as Contracts or Assignment of Benefits, or Agreements, or AOB) (R. Vol. I, pgs. 44-47). He stressed to them the importance of making payment from their settlement proceeds for the professional healthcare services that he would be delivering to them, utilizing Upstate Clinical Associates, LLC as a conduit for the receipt of their payments, upon their cases being settled. Immediately thereafter, each of the Respondents agreed to these terms, signing and returning these contractual agreements. They also made verbal agreements, to render to Upstate Clinical Associates, as a conduit, payment in full for services that the Appellant would render to the Respondents in this personal injury case, once their cases were settled. (R. Vol. II, pgs. 33-48, and esp. ¶ 16,17,18).

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