RECEIVED

Nov 25 2025

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY

Court of Commons Pleas

J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2024-001239
Case No. 2020-CP-42-00055

Lad Santiago,

Appellant,

v.

Oscar Avila Hernandez, *et. al.*

Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

Stephen N. Garcia
Bar No. 76191
Garcia Law, LLC
604 Pettigru Street
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 271-7335
Stephen@scgarcialaw.com
Attorney for Respondents

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

Plaintiff's/Appellant's fatal flaw is failing to allege in his Amended Complaint any facts that would state, with any specificity, the basis for his position that privity of contract exists between the Plaintiff/Appellant and Defendants/Respondents. Plaintiff/Appellant now incorrectly argues that privity can somehow be *implied* by looking within the four corners of the Amended Complaint. It cannot, but how does Plaintiff/Appellant attempt to make this connection? Simply put, Plaintiff/Appellant *now* attempts to argue that the presumption of lack of privity can be overcome because (1) he is the assignee of the contract and/or (2) he is a 3rd party beneficiary of the contract.⁴¹ Plaintiff's position is misguided.

As to the issue of assignor/assignee, Plaintiff/Appellant did not plead that he was an assignee of the contract at any point, and did not even *mention* the existence of an assignor/assignee relationship in his Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss dated March 9, 2020—the Memorandum that the parties agreed would be considered in lieu of oral arguments.⁴² The *only* time the Plaintiff/Appellant *even mentions* the existence of an assignor/assignee relationship was in his Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Renewed Motion to Dismiss dated May 22, 2023, after the denial of his Motion to Amend the Complaint

LLC..."); paragraph 25 (“...[D]efendants... have failed to perform their obligations under said contracts which is to render professional fees in the amount of \$17,990.00 to Upstate Clinical Associates LLC”). *See also*, Complaint, Exhibits A and B.

⁴¹ Note that the Defendants/Respondents are making a concerted effort to bring to this Court's attention that the Plaintiff/Appellant failed to plead any form of privity in his Complaint (and instead, made clear allegations demonstrating lack of privity), *but also*, in his Memorandum in Opposition to the Defendants'/Respondents' Motion to Dismiss, the Plaintiff/Appellant ***neither argued that he was a 3rd party beneficiary nor that he had been assigned the contract.*** You will not find the words “assignee” nor “3rd party beneficiary” in his arguments in his Memorandum in Opposition to the Defendants'/Appellants' Motion to Dismiss. (*See* Memorandum in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss). In fact, the argument of “assignee” and/or “3rd party beneficiary” did not appear anywhere in the record until *after* the Plaintiff's/Appellants' Motion to Amend was denied (nearly 3 years after the filing of the Amended Complaint).

⁴² *See* Record VOL I, p. 84; *see also* Record VOL I, pp. 401-402.

and more than three years after the Plaintiff/Appellant filed his Amended Complaint!⁴³ Regardless, the trial court's ruling on a Rule 12(b)(6) motion must be bottomed and premised solely upon the allegations set forth by the plaintiff in the Complaint.⁴⁴ It therefore stands to reason that the statements in subsequent filings by the Plaintiff/Appellant could not have been considered by the lower Court in considering the Motion to Dismiss. A trial court is limited to reviewing the Complaint and only the Complaint (and attachments thereto), and a memorandum in support of a motion is not evidence nor should it be considered.⁴⁵ (This principle also nullifies one of the Plaintiff's/Appellant's *other* arguments—that the Judge granting the Defendants'/Respondents' Motion to Dismiss should have considered his allegation(s) in a Memorandum unrelated to the Motion to Dismiss and not properly pleaded in his Complaint.) The only mechanism available to the Plaintiff/Appellant under the Rules of Civil Procedure to correct his pleading deficiency in failing to delineate the existence of an assignor/assignee relationship would have been to file a motion for leave to amend. The Plaintiff/Appellant, while briefly represented by counsel, *did* file a Motion for Leave to Amend dated March 7, 2022 (about 2 years after the filing of the Amended Complaint), but get this—the only *specific* request for amendment was for leave to add another Plaintiff. Can you even imagine who that 3rd Party was that the Plaintiff/Appellant sought leave to add? The Plaintiff/Appellant sought leave to add Upstate Clinical Associates, LLC as a Plaintiff!⁴⁶ Yes—that Upstate Clinical Associates, LLC—the same entity that Defendants/Respondents have maintained all along were the proper parties to the alleged

⁴³ See Record VOL I, p. 226.

⁴⁴ See *Williams v. Condon*, 347 S.C. 227, 233, 553 S.E.2d 496, 499 (Ct. App. 2001).

⁴⁵ *Brown v. Odom*, 425 S.C. 420, 432, 823 S.E.2d 183, 189 (Ct. App. 2019).

⁴⁶ See Record VOL I, p. 180..

“contracts” *according to the Plaintiff’s/Appellant’s own pleadings*.⁴⁷ The Plaintiff/Appellant’s Motion for Leave to Amend was denied (and more importantly, leave to amend to include an allegation of assignment is not an issue on review before this Honorable Court as the Plaintiff/Appellant has not raised that as an issue in this Appeal).⁴⁸ Nonetheless, the notion that the Plaintiff/Appellant has overcome the deficiency of lack of privity because he was the assignee of the contracts is a fallacy. The Plaintiff/Appellant has never pleaded that issue nor has he requested leave to amend his Complaint to allege same. It is worth noting that in his Brief to this Honorable Court, the Plaintiff/Appellant blatantly misrepresents to this Court that paragraph 6 of his Amended Complaint contained the allegation of assignment of the contract to him by Upstate Clinical Associates, LLC.⁴⁹ Dishonest representation aside, quite frankly, this notion of assignment can only be seen as a last-ditch and entirely dishonest attempt to survive the lower Court’s granting of the Motion to Dismiss. Nonetheless, the argument fails on its face because the Plaintiff/Appellant failed to allege the existence of an assignment in his Amended Complaint.

Continuing, Plaintiff/Appellant also attempts to cure his clear privity deficiency by also arguing that he is a 3rd party beneficiary to the alleged “contracts.” This is a gross misunderstanding of the law regarding the right of 3rd party beneficiaries to bring a direct action for breach of contract. If a contract is made for the benefit of a third person, that person may

⁴⁷ See Record VOL I, p. 132; *see also* See Record VOL I, p. 182.

⁴⁸ Note that Plaintiff/Appellant mentions in his Initial Brief, page 16, that in his Motion for New Trial, he sought leave of the Court to file supplemental pleadings to address any deficiencies. While it is Defendants’/Respondents’ position that Plaintiff’s/Appellant’s request for leave to amend in his “Motion for New Trial” was improper on various grounds—specifically, that there were no deficiencies specifically offered to be corrected by Plaintiff/Appellant—nonetheless, this issue was not preserved by the Plaintiff/Appellant as it was not set forth in the Plaintiff’s/Appellant’s Statement of Issues on Appeal.

⁴⁹ See Plaintiff/Appellant’s Initial Brief, page 6, line 22 through page 7, line 2.

enforce the contract if the contracting parties intended to create a direct, rather than an incidental or consequential, benefit to such third person.⁵⁰ Because the Plaintiff/Appellant failed to plead the existence of a 3rd Party Beneficiary relationship (and failed to seek leave to amend to add that allegation), the argument fails for the same reasons that the aforementioned argument regarding assignor/assignee relationship fails. However, the Plaintiff's/Appellant's argument regarding his status as a 3rd party beneficiary, quite frankly, is absurd. There is *nothing* to which the Plaintiff/Appellant can point in the attached, alleged "contracts" that states that he is a *direct* beneficiary therein. Plaintiff/Appellant appears to argue that because he would have been paid from the proceeds paid to Upstate Clinical Associates, LLC, that therefore, he is a direct 3rd party beneficiary of the contract. The Defendants/Respondents argue that this, *at best*, would classify the Plaintiff/Appellant as an incidental beneficiary and *not* a direct beneficiary. An incidental beneficiary has no privity of contract as a 3rd party, and therefore, the Plaintiff's/Appellant's argument that he has standing as a 3rd party beneficiary also fails.

Consider the absurdity of the Plaintiff's/Appellant's position regarding 3rd party beneficiary status: if the *alleged* fact that the Plaintiff/Appellant might have been paid from the proceeds of any payment owed to Upstate Clinical Associates, LLC converts Plaintiff/Appellant to a 3rd party beneficiary, that would also open the door for a whole slew of 3rd parties to maintain an action against the Defendants/Respondents under similar theory. For instance, under such an absurd theory, Upstate Clinical Associates, LLC's landlord could maintain an action against the Defendants/Respondents, or even Upstate Clinical Associates, LLC's cleaning crew, or any of the number of nurses that provided services (or *did not* provide services) to the Defendants/Appellants,

⁵⁰ *Bob Hammond Const. Co. v. Banks Const. Co.*, 312 S.C. 422, 424, 440 S.E.2d 890, 891 (Ct. App. 1994), *citing* *Cothran v. Rock Hill*, 211 S.C. 17, 43 S.E.2d 615 (1947).

or maybe even the receptionist, or lessor of medical equipment—the list is nearly unlimited—and would create an *absurd* result.

Plaintiff's/Appellant's reliance on caselaw to support his position is *also* badly flawed. Plaintiff/Appellant points to *Beverly v. Grand Strand Reg'l Med. Ctr., LLC*, in support of his position that he should be classified as a 3rd party beneficiary (and with other various citations which our taken out of context).⁵¹ However, the *Beverly* case involved a patient who brought an action against a hospital for breach of contract, bad faith, and unjust enrichment, asserting that the hospital breached their contract with the health insurance network, of which patient was a member, by attempting to bill the patient in excess of the contract's reduced services rate. The *Beverly* Trial Court and the Appellate Court(s) found that the patient was a *direct* beneficiary of the contract between the hospital and the health insurance network, and as such, had privity to bring a direct action against the hospital for breach of contract (among other claims). The fact pattern in *Beverly* is not analogous and has no relationship to the fact pattern in the instant matter. The Plaintiff/Appellant offers no support for his classification as a 3rd party beneficiary.

Plaintiff/Appellant attempts to argue a workaround for his lack of privity with the Defendants/Respondents. Every single argument fails. (Consider this, too—the very fact that the Plaintiff argues that he should be seen as an assignee and/or a 3rd party beneficiary *is a clear admission that the Plaintiff/Appellant is not a party to the “contracts” made subject by this action!*) Again, the dismissal of Plaintiff's/Appellant's Amended Complaint was proper.

⁵¹ *Beverly v. Grand Strand Reg'l Med. Ctr., LLC*, 429 S.C. 502, 839 S.E.2d 468 (Ct. App. 2020), *aff'd*, 435 S.C. 594, 869 S.E.2d 812 (2022).

III. PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT ARGUES THAT BECAUSE HIS COMPLAINT COULD SURVIVE UNDER *AT LEAST ONE THEORY*, DISMISSAL IS IMPROPER, HOWEVER, PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT FAILS TO STATE WHAT THAT ONE THEORY MIGHT BE. FURTHER PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT ARGUES THAT HIS COMPLAINT PASSES THE PLAUSABILITY STANDARD, BUT HE DOES NOT STATE HOW SO.

Just as the above title reads, Plaintiff/Appellant, in support of his position that dismissal of his Complaint was improper, argues that his Complaint “meets the requirements for Relief on Any Theory.” (sic) Plaintiff/Appellant further argues that the “Complaint meets the necessary criteria to qualify as a bona fide legal complaint.” Both of these positions essentially make the same conclusory argument: that because the Plaintiff’s/Appellant’s Breach of Contract claim is valid, that therefore, the Complaint must be valid. What Plaintiff/Appellant fails to recognize is that taking his own allegations as true—specifically that Defendants/Respondents entered into a contract with the non-party, Upstate Clinical Associates, LLC and *not* the Plaintiff/Appellant—the Complaint fails to state a cause of action upon which relief can be granted *under any theory* and fails to meet the “Plausibility” standard upon which he so desperately relies. Plaintiff/Appellant offers no additional theories that might be supported by the facts alleged in his Complaint.

Again, Defendants/Respondents argue that Plaintiff’s/Appellant’s Complaint does not allege any form of privity with the Defendants/Respondents. Plaintiff/Appellant has failed to state even one cause of action that survives the proffered standards upon which he relies. Respectfully, Plaintiff’s/Appellant’s argument regarding “any theory” doctrine and/or “plausibility” doctrine must fail and the granting of Defendants’/Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss must be affirmed.

IV. PLAINTIFF/APPELLANT ATTEMPTS TO ARGUE ISSUES NOT RULED UPON BY THE LOWER COURT AND NOT SOUGHT TO BE RULED UPON IN PLAINTIFF’S/APPELLANT’S POST-ORDER “MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL”.

Plaintiff/Appellant states two separate issues in his Statement of Issues on Appeal—specifically, No. 5 and No. 6 regarding the issues of statute of limitations and breach of fiduciary duty respectively—that were not ruled upon by the lower court nor called to the attention of the Lower Court with any specificity by a post-order motion for reconsideration. “It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”⁵² A party *must* file such a motion when an issue or argument has been raised, but not ruled on, in order to preserve it for appellate review.⁵³

As to the issue of statute of limitations, the Lower Court, in its Order made subject by this appeal, specifically stated that it was not passing judgment on the statute of limitations defense raised by the Defendants/Respondents.⁵⁴ Plaintiff/Appellant did not seek a finding or order on this issue in his “Motion for New Trial” and therefore, this issue is not preserved. Respectfully, this issue cannot be considered by this Honorable Court on Appeal nor does it warrant a response on the merits from the Defendants/Respondents.

Likewise, the issue of whether the Lower Court erred in finding that there was no failure of fiduciary performance and duty on the part of the Respondents and the Respondents’ attorney was neither ruled upon by the Lower Court nor raised as an issue in the Plaintiff’s/Appellant’s

⁵² *Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998), citing *Creech v. South Carolina Wildlife and Marine Resources Dep’t*, 328 S.C. 24, 491 S.E.2d 571 (1997).

⁵³ *Elam v. S.C. Dep’t of Transp.*, 361 S.C. 9, 24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 780 (2004).

⁵⁴ See Record VOL I, p. 18.

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